1956

Lowell E. Parrish v. Theodore H. Tahtaras and Josephine Tahtaras : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action arose from respondent's claim for money due and owing him for services rendered in designing plans and specifications for the construction of a home for appellants on a lot owned by them at 1510 Ute Drive in Indian Hills Subdivision, Salt Lake City, Utah. Respondent's Complaint (R. 1) alleges that in April of 1954 appellants engaged his services as an architect and that coincidentally a written agreement was executed; that in pursuance of such employment he entered upon the preparation and the execution of such necessary plans, specifications, and drawings, requisite for the taking of bids by December, 1954; that the lowest bid was \$62,579.00; that defendants were obligated to pay a sum equal to 6% thereof, to-wit, \$3,754.74; that appellants have paid \$1300.00 and a balance remains due and owing in the sum of \$2,554.74, and pray judgment in that amount.

Appellants' Answer and Counterclaim (R. 3) admits engaging respondent; denies any written contract was entered into coincidental with such engagement but admits signing a standard form of agreement on the 27th day of July, 1954, and alleges that said agreement is incomplete and does not totally and completely incorporate the agreement of the parties.

By way of counterclaim appellants allege that plaintiff was engaged by oral agreement to design a home for

appellants for a cost of work including architectural services and the cost of the land not in excess of \$45,000.00; that on the 27th day of July, 1954, the appellant, Theodore Tahtaras, signed a printed form which is incomplete and does not fully state the agreement between the parties; that the lowest bonafide standing bid which was presented to appellants was in excess of \$80,000.00; that the respondent did thereafter modify the plans reducing the size of the proposed structure and did thereupon receive new bids, the lowest of which was \$73,280.00 not inclusive of the cost of the land or the fees of the architect; that respondent failed in the substantial performance of his contract of employment, has failed, refused and neglected to modify the plans to the extent contracted for by the parties and has altogether failed to perform according to the terms of said agreement; that respondent refused to return \$1300.00 which appellants had previously paid.

Respondent's Amended Reply (R. 8) alleges the contract in writing to be the entire agreement; that appellants orally authorized respondent to design for them a residence similar in size and style to respondent's house and they approved preliminary drawings as to size and style of residence; that all prior oral understandings were reduced to writing by the execution of the written contract on or about July 27, 1954; that there was no agreement orally or in writing that the total cost of the house, including architectural services and cost of land,

was to be a sum not in excess of \$45,000.00; that no fixed maximum was set by the appellants with the respondent in their negotiations; that respondent had fully performed; that the bid in the sum of \$73,280.00 was in excess of the fair and reasonable cost of construction and alleges that the sum of \$1300.00 was paid pursuant to Paragraph 5 of the contract, which requires 25% of the fee to be paid at completion of preliminary sketches.

Appellants denied these allegations.

During trial the Court directed respondent to file an additional cause in quantum meruit and admitted evidence of estimates of reasonable costs and the reasonable value of respondent's services, (R. 118, 120, and R. 175, Lns. 1-16).

Respondent's version, as extracted from his testimony, is substantially:

Appellants were friendly neighbors of the respondent for a period of ten years and are the owners of a small restaurant on West 3rd South Street in Salt Lake City, comprising 14 stools and 4 booths wherein appellant Theodore Tahtaras works one shift daily as cook and appellant Josephine Tahtaras works part time as a waitress (R. 152, Lns. 3-16). That respondent knew this and also that the restaurant was the principal source of appellants' income (R. 164, Lns. 24-26).

In April, 1954, he was called to advise appellants on choice of available lots and in the latter part of the month (R. 23, 24, Lns. 30-3) he was orally retained to draw plans and specifications for a dwelling to be built on the lot of his recommendation (R. 143, 144, Lns. 28-2), the home to be as beautiful, as good and as nice as the home of the respondent which appellants had visited a number of times and for which they had repeatedly expressed admiration (R. 25, 26, Lns. 11-11) and which cost respondent \$62,000.00, containing 1100 square feet of patio (R. 49, Lns. 5-10), 2240 square feet of house, and 500 square feet of garage (oral stipulation).

Pursuant to such authorization and employment the respondent on or about May 11, 1954, presented his topographical survey of the property (R. 27, Lns. 18-21) and received the instructions (R. 28, Lns. 1-12) from appellants that the house was to contain three bedrooms on the main floor, combined living room and dining room, breakfast room off the kitchen, utility room upstairs, a two-car garage and a completed recreation room downstairs (R. 28, Lns. 1-6) and two bathrooms (R. 30, Lns. 9-13).

In the latter part of May or first part of June he presented rough schematics, rough drawings to scale (R. 29, Lns. 9-17) to appellants (Exhibits 4 and 6) and received their acceptance and approval (R. 32, Lns. 2-18) and (R. 35, Lns. 1-18).

At a fourth meeting about a week later he presented these exhibits to appellants again together with a floor plan to scale (Exhibit 5) (R. 34, Lns. 1-17).

At this meeting the schematic sketches and floor plan, Exhibits 4, 6, and 5 were approved by appellants (R. 35, Lns. 7-27).

On July 27, 1954, at a fifth meeting respondent submitted preliminaries to appellants at their rented residence (R. 36, 37, Lns. 30-1) — preliminaries being drawings essentially identical with the approved schematics but in addition had elevation and extensions so that the appearance of the house could be visualized, Exhibit 7 (R. 37, Lns. 4-28); these were approved and respondent received from appellants a check for \$300.00. On that date appellant Theodore Tahtaras signed the written elements of the agreement, Exhibit 1, which is a printed form prepared by the American Institute of Architects, and submitted by the respondent, which provides:

1. The architect shall prepare plans and specifications and supervise.
2. Be paid 8% of the Cost of the Work, the said percentage being called the Basic Rate, and
3. Receive a sum equal to 25% of the Basic Rate computed upon a reasonable estimated cost upon completion of preliminary studies, and
4. Further payment from time to time so that the

architect shall have received 75% of the Basic Rate at the completion of the general working drawings and specifications.

5. To be computed upon a reasonable cost estimated on such completed drawings and specifications or if bids had been received then computed upon the lowest bona fide bid or bids.

6. If any work designed is abandoned or suspended in whole or in part, the architect should be paid for the service rendered on account of it.

7. Cost of the work is defined as the cost to the owner, but such cost shall not include any architect's or special consultant's fees or reimbursements or the cost of the clerk of the work.

At this point respondent could have "guesstimated" work at something in excess of \$60,000.00 but did not see fit to do so because of the stipulation of designed work—something as beautiful and as attractive as his home (R. 150, 151, Lns. 1-1).

Nothing in the printed form would indicate its intent to provide for the limitation of a proposed cost of the work and the respondent contends that to this point there was no conversation between the parties which determined for him such a limitation.

About September 10th he submitted Exhibit 8, (which are sketches of the interior details, (R. 41, 42,

Lns. 7-12) and at which time he considered himself approved on all items of interior or exterior details (R. 42, Lns. 23-28) of a house with a square footage of 4500 square feet (R. 71, Lns. 16-22).

Appellant Josephine Tahtaras volunteered the question that this house would cost at least \$60,000.00 and respondent replied , "Yes, at least that and more." (R. 44, 45, Lns. 30-13) and appellant Theodore Tahtaras said in order to give his wife exactly what she wanted, he would go as high as \$65,000.00 (R. 45, Lns. 1-13).

After this alleged conversation respondent proceeded to draw final plans and specifications, a procedure which involved the next two months and further conferences with appellants (R. 47, Lns. 2-7) and work involving Exhibit 17 — working studies and preliminary engineering, and most of the necessary work prior to executing the completed documents (R. 72, Lns. 6-18).

Respondent testified there was no conversation about limiting the cost of the work other than the one respondent recited above as having taken place on or about September 10th (R. 28, Ln. 28, R. 32, Lns. 2-6, R. 35, Lns. 28-30, R. 36, Ln. 1, and R. 39, Lns. 24-27).

After completed plans and specifications for a house of 4500 square feet had been approved by appellants, bids were invited.

Those received were: (Exhibit 14)

Earl Belknap	\$62,589.00
Stewart L. Carlson	80,562.00
Hamer Culp Jr.	82,500.00
Alvin E. Fors	92,500.00

but the bid by Mr. Belknap was immediately withdrawn; that appellants had no knowledge of Belknap's bid prior to its withdrawal (R. 67, Lns. 25-29).

Appellants protested the bid prices including the figure of \$62,589.00 (Belknap's bid, R. 73, 74, Lns. 30-7) and after some discussion respondent offered to revise plans, knowing that appellants wanted a figure below \$62,589.00, by cutting them to see where they would come out (R. 72-78, R. 56, Lns. 6-10, R. 153, 154, Lns. 21-2). That the reasonable estimate of cost is \$12 to \$14 per square foot, (R. 174, Lns. 21-23).

With the consent of the appellants to cut plans (R. 72-78, Lns. 25-28) respondent proceeded to cut 700 feet from the structure (R. 71, 72, Lns. 16-5) and sent out invitations for bids without first obtaining acceptance or approval by appellants to the modifications (R. 56, Lns. 11-15 and R. 69, Lns. 17-24) and thereafter submitted bids of \$73,280.00 and \$75,987.00 on the 3800 foot structure to the appellants. At this point respondent was not asked nor did he offer to rebuild or design new plans for a house (R. 158, Lns. 1-12).

Appellants thereupon abandoned the contract and returned plans to respondent because they said they were faced with two law suits at the time and could not con-

tinue with construction (R. 169, Lns. 15-29).

Appellants had paid a total of \$1300.00 in two payments (admitted by pleadings).

Appellants' version, as extracted from their testimony is substantially:

On August 29, 1953, appellants entered into an agreement, Exhibit 21, (R. 238, 239, Lns. 28-8) to purchase a lot in Indian Hills, which previously at their request had been selected for them by respondent, (R. 79, Lns. 17-30 and R. 23, 24, Lns. 11-3). That about the 10th of June, 1954, after entering into negotiations to sell their residence, (Exhibit 22) appellants orally contracted with respondent to design a house on the Ute Drive lot.

That appellants and respondent went to the Ute Drive lot in Indian Hills (R. 243, Lns. 1-4) and after appellant Josephine Tahtaras told him the rooms she wanted in the house, and their respective locations relating to view, the respondent asked appellant Theodore Tahtaras how much he wanted to spend (R. 270, Lns. 15-21 and R. 243, Lns. 26-30). Appellant Theodore Tahtaras answered, "\$40,000 because by the time I get through, the cost of the lot and your fee will run around \$45,000 to \$47,500."

In the course of a series of meetings appellants were shown and approved various stages of the work, paid two installments totalling \$1300.00, signed the written elements of the contract on July 27, 1954, and ultimately

the parties convened in respondent's office on or about the 14th of December, 1954, at which time appellants observed all the bids and were notified of the withdrawal of the Belknap bid of \$62,589.00. Appellants declared their disapproval of the size of the bids, and their desire to forget the whole thing (R. 281, 282 Lns. 25-8 and R. 258, Lns. 17-22).

Respondent offered to cut about 500 square feet (Exhibit 13) to bring amount to appellants' figure (R. 282, Lns. 9-26).

The appellants, at the persuasion of respondent, consented to cutting the size of house about 500 square feet; the elimination of a substantial amount of detail on the lower floor, the cutting of the size of recreation room, by partitioning off a sewing room and the addition of one-half bathroom fixtures to a roughed-in lower floor bathroom, Exhibit 11-3R, 4R, 13R (R. 282, 283, Lns. 27-30).

The appellant Theodore Tahtaras called Earl Belknap, the \$62,589.00 bidder, and tried to persuade him to rebid the plans (R. 294, 295, Lns. 22-12) telling him there might be some revisions (R. 304, 305, Lns. 10-10).

When the second bids came back respondent talked to appellant Josephine Tahtaras by phone and on learning the bids were over \$73,000.00 she told him they couldn't afford it and would be better off going out to buy one.

The architect answered, "I think you'd better." (R. 260, Lns. 15-25).

Appellants deny specifically that they participated in a conversation at any time where Mrs. Tahtaras had estimated building costs at \$60,000 or that Mr. Tahtaras had declared a willingness to spend \$65,000 (R. 279, Lns. 3-19).

That about the middle of January, 1955, appellant Theodore Tahtaras, in the office of respondent, discussed the second set of bids which were \$73,280.00 and \$75,-987.00 (R. 286, 287, Lns. 30-15) and appellant told him to forget the work. Respondent answered, "I can't build you a home for less than \$60,000.00," and demanded the balance of his fee.

Appellant refused to pay (R. 288, Lns. 1-4) and on January 26, 1955, bought a home already constructed.

The Court in line with its reasoning expressed at the trial (R. 320, Lns. 3-8) made its decision (Minute Entry — R. 324); holding defendant employed plaintiff to design plans for a figure of \$65,000 less architect's fees or \$60,185.18; "plaintiff could have cut plans to get bids of this figure, but defendant abandoned project. Defendants not entitled to return of any fees paid; plaintiff entitled to judgment calculated on quantum meruit" and computed the same as follows:

"Fee if work had been completed 8% of
62,579.00 is 5207.12 reduced to maxi-

mum of 8% on 60,185.18 or.....	4814.82
Less $\frac{1}{4}$ allocated to building supervi- sion	1203.70
Less $\frac{1}{8}$ allocated to reducing plans to secure bids at 60,185.18.....	601.85
Less amount paid	1300.00
	1709.27
	(R. 324)."

Findings (R. 13 and 14) were made that appellants engaged respondent to draw plans and specifications for a home the cost of the work to be \$65,000 including architect's fees or \$60,185.18; that the written contract did not fully encompass all of the understandings and contracts made by the parties; that bids were taken by plaintiff for the convenience of the defendants, the said bids ranging from \$73,500 to \$90,000, but plaintiff was ready, willing and able to reduce the dimensions and design so as to procure bids of \$60,185.18; that notwithstanding the willingness and ability of plaintiff to further modify the drawings and specifications, defendants on January 14, 1955, notified plaintiff of their intention to abandon, and they did in fact abandon their projected construction and did not erect the residence designed by plaintiff or any residence on said lot; that the reasonable value of plaintiff's services is \$3009.27 and plaintiff is entitled to that sum less \$1300.00 paid or a balance of \$1709.27 which sum was payable on or before February 1, 1955.

Appellants moved for a new trial (R. 328) and the

said motion was denied (R. 329).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

DURING TRIAL THE COURT ERRED IN (a) INTRODUCING THE ISSUE OF QUANTUM MERUIT; (b) PERMITTING EVIDENCE TO BE ADMITTED IN SUPPORT THEREOF; (c) ALLOWING AMENDMENT OF THE COMPLAINT; (d) MAKING FINDING NO. 7 THAT REASONABLE VALUE OF RESPONDENT'S SERVICES IS \$3009.27; (e) ENTERING JUDGMENT THEREON; (f) DENYING APPELLANTS RECOVERY OF THE SUM OF \$1300.00.

POINT II.

THE COURT, HAVING FOUND THAT THE COST OF THE WORK HAD BEEN STIPULATED AT THE INCEPTION OF THE ORAL CONTRACT, ERRED IN FINDING THE FIGURE WAS \$60,185.18 AS SET FORTH IN FINDINGS OF FACT NUMBERED 4 AND 6 RATHER THAN THE SUM OF \$40,000.00 AS TESTIFIED TO BY APPELLANTS.

POINT III.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING (a) THAT THE BIDS TAKEN BY THE PLAINTIFF RANGED FROM \$73,500 TO \$90,000 AND (b) THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS READY WILLING AND ABLE TO CUT THE PLANS TO \$60,185.18.

POINT IV.

AN ARCHITECT OWES TO HIS CLIENT A FIDUCIARY DUTY OF LOYALTY AND GOOD FAITH.

POINT V.

THE FINDINGS OF THE COURT ARE INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE CONCLUSIONS AND JUDGMENT OF

THE COURT; TO THE CONTRARY, THE SAID FINDINGS REQUIRED AS A MATTER OF LAW, JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE APPELLANTS ON THEIR ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM. WE SUBMIT THE JUDGMENT OF THE COURT SHOULD BE REVERSED AND JUDGMENT OF NO CAUSE OF ACTION SHOULD BE ENTERED ON PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT AND FOR APPELLANTS ON THEIR COUNTERCLAIM.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

DURING TRIAL THE COURT ERRED IN (a) INTRODUCING THE ISSUE OF QUANTUM MERUIT; (b) PERMITTING EVIDENCE TO BE ADMITTED IN SUPPORT THEREOF; (c) ALLOWING AMENDMENT OF THE COMPLAINT; (d) MAKING FINDING NO. 7 THAT REASONABLE VALUE OF RESPONDENT'S SERVICES IS \$3009.27; (e) ENTERING JUDGMENT THEREON; (f) DENYING APPELLANTS RECOVERY OF THE SUM OF \$1300.00.

(a) and (c) violate Rule 15 (b) of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

(b) Admission of testimony in support of a cause in quantum meruit is immaterial and irrelevant where it is in defeasance of the terms of an express contract.

(d) The measure of respondent's damages in quantum meruit is set forth in the court's decision (R. 324).

The court first multiplied \$60,185.00 which it had determined to be the pre-stated limitation on the cost of the work by the contractual Basic Rate, namely 8%.

It then reduced this result by $\frac{1}{4}$ because of build-

ing suspension, and an additional $\frac{1}{8}$ which was allocated as the reasonable value of the work necessary in reducing the plans further to secure bids consistent with the pre-stated limitation.

This conclusion is not merely not borne out by the evidence in that the $\frac{1}{8}$ reduction is absolutely arbitrary — without a scintilla of evidence to support it — but is in direct conflict with respondent's contention that he "exceeded in service value more than the contract amount" (R. 176, Lns. 10-26).

Counsel most seriously questions the prerogative of the court summarily to evaluate the failure of respondent's performance to $\frac{1}{8}$ of his fee.

Even if this $\frac{1}{8}$ was amenable to measurement, the crux of the issue here is whether the performance of respondent is to be measured by his work at the drawing board, or by the substantive result of his cutting an additional 1000 feet (\$12.00-\$14.00 per foot, see Statement of Facts) from the size of the house regardless of the desires of the appellants.

(e) Judgment in quantum meruit in this case is contrary to law. Both parties insisted an express contract existed between them, and the court so found.

By the court's statement — (R. 118, 119, 120):

COURT: "It is my idea right now in the case you have to recover on the quantum meruit. —

It looks like now I would think quantum meruit would be your basis, in other words reasonable value to date, not exceeding probably a certain sum —”

MR. ROSE: I take it Your Honor feels there is a basis for recovery in this action on quantum meruit?

COURT: I think if there is any it would be on that basis. If the contract had been performed it probably would not be the basis for recovery. — We have the plaintiff’s story — That they were stopped in the middle of their work, and when that occurs quantum meruit is usually the basis for damages, not the amount of the contract —”

Counsel for appellants disagrees. If respondent can recover at all, he must do so on the express contract made by the parties. He cannot, where he has failed to perform, or been guilty of breach, avail himself of the device of quantum meruit to recover for his unused and unuseable efforts. One who breaches an express contract should not be permitted to circumvent his responsibilities thereunder or avoid the onus of his breach, but retain its benefits through the medium of implied contract.

Where there is an express contract nothing is to be implied, except as may be construed from the agreements expressed.

(f) It follows that if respondent is not entitled to recover on quantum meruit, he cannot retain the \$1300.00 paid him by the appellants.

In *Maack v. Schneider* 57 Mo. App. 431 where \$200.00 had been paid on account to the architect, the court declared at Page 433:

“If this be true it is difficult to see — the plaintiff had any cause of action against the defendant. Taking plaintiff’s evidence to be true, it left plaintiff in receipt of \$200.00 to which he had no legal claim.”

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