1956

Lowell E. Parrish v. Theodore H. Tahtaras and Josephine Tahtaras : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPELLANTS REQUESTED THE ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES OF MR. PARRISH, APPROVED

THE DESIGN, DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR THEIR HOME AND ARE LEGALLY BOUND TO PAY FOR THE SAME.

The record, as testified to by all parties, shows that the appellants had been neighbors to Mr. Parrish for several years and were familiar with his work as an architect and particularly with the new home designed and built by him on "I" Street. They visited at this new home and decided that they wanted one like it.

To this end, they had Mr. Parrish assist them in the selection of a sloping view lot in Indian Hills and then requested that he design for them a two level house "as good as" his. In fact, they were very definite as to what this house must contain, including three bedrooms on the main floor, along with two tiled bathrooms, living room, dinette, kitchen. Then they required that the lower floor have a large recreation room, a sewing room and a half bath with the usual appurtenances. Step by step as the planning developed, Mr. Parrish met with the appellants and reviewed the design, size and placement of the required rooms and finally came up with a full set of drawings and specifications to meet their demands. Mrs. Tahtaras was particularly anxious for certain details and Mr. Tahtaras seemed agreeable to letting her have anything she wanted.

This actual planning process covered a period from the latter part of May, 1954 when the first schematic drawings were submitted until November 1954 when the finished drawing were approved and ready for the taking of bids. This period allowed the parties mature reflection upon the proposed undertaking and does not show a hasty ill-conceived venture. Mrs. Tahtaras wanted a home as good as the one occupied by Mr. and Mrs. Parrish and she visited in their "I" Street house, had conferences there concerning the design of her own house and suggested revisions to meet her own requirements.

Can the appellants now be heard to say that they should not pay for this professional service rendered at their instance and request and solely for their benefit? Yet that is their position. The sole excuse offered for their refusal to pay is that the bids for the construction exceeded their desired maximum cost. No complaint is made as to the style of design, the number of rooms, their placement or the materials as obviously such are the items that they desired and that they insisted upon and required to be a part of the drawings and specifications.

On the issue of maximum cost, the Court found that:

"Defendants employed plaintiff to draw

plans for a building, not to exceed \$65,000, including the architects' but not the cost of the lot.

Plaintiff could have cut the plans to get bids of \$65,000 less fees or \$60,185.18.

Defendants abandoned their house building project.

Defendants are not entitled to any return of fees paid.

Plaintiff is entitled to judgment, damage calculation on quantum meruit.

Fee if work had been completed 8% of \$62,579 is \$5,207.12 reduced to maximum of 8% of \$60,185.12	\$4,814.82
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------

Less $\frac{1}{4}$ allocated to building suspension	1,203.70
-----------------------------------------------------	----------

Less $\frac{1}{8}$ allocated to reducing the plans to secure bids @ \$60,185.18	601.85
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------

Less amount paid	1,300.00
------------------	----------

Judgment for plaintiff and against defendants	\$1,709.27
-----------------------------------------------	------------

(R. 324).

The law relating to a quasi-contracts is based upon the equitable principle that a person shall not be allowed to enrich himself unjustly at the expense of another, and on the principle that whatsoever it is certain that a man ought to do, that the law supposes him to have promised to do. (17 C.J.S. 324)

The Court had before it the record of extensive architectural services rendered in the design of a fine dwelling to meet the demands of the appellants. The record that the appellants approved of these drawings and specifications and requested Mr. Parrish to assist them by seeking out contractors to build the dwelling. They selected two such contractors to whom invitations for bids were sent. All of this part of the services by Mr. Parrish was of a special nature in accommodating the appellants.

Even after the bids came in and were considered too high by the appellants (we shall touch upon the reasons later) they still requested Mr. Parrish to perform more professional services in the modification of the plans and specifications to come within the \$65,000.00 maximum figure imposed by the appellants after they had already dictated and approved of the general size, number and style of the rooms and exterior of the dwelling. Once again bids were requested and again rejected by appellants, and Mr. Parrish was willing and ready to further reduce the design and specifications and to seek lower bids (R. 257 & 259) but appellants withdrew and decided to purchase a house. (R. 260)

The Court's decision appears to be based upon the reasonable value of the services on a quantum meruit theory, there are numerous facts which sustain the legal premise for this:

Appellants orally hired Mr. Parrish, consulted with him, approved the designing and dictated the general size, style and content of the proposed residence;

Appellants on two occasions recognized their employment of Mr. Parrish by paying to him \$300.00 and \$1,000.00 respectively on account;

Appellants signed a written contract with Mr. Parrish after his work had already been partially performed, which contract confirms the intention to use his services, and then compensate for the same;

Mr. Parrish testified as to the reasonable value of the services rendered and no contradictory evidence was adduced;

Appellants, because of their own credit problems, discharged Mr. Parrish and withdrew from the proposed construction of the dwelling in January of 1955.

This problem has been considered by the courts on other occasions. The general rule is stated: If an architect renders services and there is no agreement respecting compensation, he is entitled to be paid the reasonable value of his services. 3 AM. Jur. 1004, Annotation, 20 A.L.R. 1357.

The crux of the matter seems to turn on the question of whether or not the appellants, by refusing to pursue the modification and re-bidding on the house, could then eliminate their accrued obligation to pay Mr. Parrish for his services render-

ed up to that time. It is the attitude of appellants that Mr. Parrish acted at his own peril in taking bids when the same exceeded the expectations of the appellants. They seem to forget that Mr. Parrish was acting as their agent and as an accomodation in the taking of bids. They had dictated two of the prospective contractors and he selected the others to whom invitations to bid were offered.

The record shows that it is not uncommon for plans to be revised by elimination of areas and details to reach lower prices. An architect attempts to get the very most he can for a client at the inception and if the bids are too high, then the process of gradual elimination starts by reduction of the drawings and specifications to seek out lower bids from contractors. Appellants have not alleged or contended that they imposed any time limits or date restrictions upon Mr. Parrish either as to original design or the revisions, but now seek to evade their just liabilities by changing their minds and discharging him in the course of his services and prior to completion.

Have appellants been fair in this matter? We think not. They were the ones that invited Mr. Parrish to design a house for them as beautiful as the Parrish home on "I" Street. (R. 196). The appellants had familiarized themselves with the Parrish home and selected a beautiful view lot location in

a new subdivision, Indian Hills, for a similar home. In addition, they imposed upon Mr. Parrish minimum requirements such as three bedrooms on the main floor, a breakfast area adjoining the kitchen overlooking the view, similar types of materials to the Parrish home, recreational areas downstairs, "a beautiful home, one that people would look at, something that people would be attracted toward as they drove by they would stop and look at." (R. 201)

Now they are unhappy because such a home was designed for them, but the cost exceeded their expectations. It was not until the home had been fully designed and the working drawings approved that the appellants imposed the \$65,000.00 maximum figure upon their architect. (R. 45 and 206) This restriction having been so lately imposed after the basic design, materials, style and details had been agreed upon, should be considered by the court in determining whether or not it was reasonable for appellants to cut short Mr. Parrish in his efforts to scale such down to where acceptable bids could be procured. Mr. Tahtaras had told Mr. Parrish to "keep working on it." "The sooner the better". (R. 284)

Appellants' appetite for a beautiful home apparently far exceeded their willingness to pay for what they wanted. Just what is the responsibility

of an architect to the client when the client dictates the requirements and approves the drawings at each step of the way? "Good faith and loyalty to his employer constitute a primary duty of the architect." 3 Am. Jur. 1000.

"An architect, by every contract, implies that he possesses skill and ability, including taste, sufficient to enable him to perform the required services at least ordinarily and reasonably well, and that he will exercise and apply in the given case his skill, ability, judgment, and taste reasonably and without neglect. The duty owing to his employer is essentially the same as that which is owed by any person to another where such person holds himself out as possessing skill and ability in some special employment and offers his services to the public on account of his fitness to act in the line of business for which he may be employed. The skill and diligence which he is bound to exercise are such as are ordinarily required of architects. He must provide for reasonable strength and for proper material and character of construction, and he must keep abreast of the improvements of the times. The architect's undertaking, however, in the absence of a special agreement, does not imply or guarantee a perfect plan or satisfactory result, but he is liable only for failure to exercise reasonable care and skill. * * *"
3 Am. Jur. 1001.

Your court considered a somewhat similar problem on architectural fees in *Headlund v. Daniels*, 167 Pac. 1170, 50 Ut. 381. After work had been

done by the architect and some drawings produced, he estimated the costs of remodeling the theatre would not exceed \$30,000.00. The actual remodeling cost was \$77,000.00. The owner refused to pay the architectural fees because of the tremendous increase in costs. The judgment of the lower court in favor of the architect for his fees was affirmed. There the architect's plans were used and the remodeling completed. But the court seemed to emphasize that the excessive cost was not due to the carelessness, negligence or incompetency of the architect.

“A contract may be made in which the sum named is only by way of estimate, and where the instructions given require the preparation of plans and specifications for the construction of a building according to the expressed wishes of the owner as to size, method, and details of construction, and mere nonconformity in the cost of construction under the plans and specifications with the amount so estimated does not prevent a recovery.” 6 C.J.S. 310

See also *Schwender v. Schraft*, 141 N.E. 511, 246 Mass. 523.

POINT II

THE APPARENTLY EXCESSIVE BIDS RESULTED FROM THE LAWSUITS AND CREDIT DIFFICULTIES OF THE APPELLANTS.

The evidence in the record shows that nearly four and one-half months of architectural services had been rendered before appellants, when inspect-

ing the working drawings, finally came up with the restriction of \$65,000.00 maximum cost. They would have you think that Mr. Parrish, who proceeded in good faith in his professional services, had done something wrong in not procuring a declaration on price at the outset. The friendly, neighborhood relationship of the parties did not dictate such a contractual condition when the appellants had told him to design a home as good as his on "I" Street. He and they knew the materials, style and details in that home. They had watched its construction and had viewed it and visited in it when completed. Also they dictated the size and character for incorporation in their new house.

What is there in the record that would have advised Mr. Parrish of their unexpressed price restrictions prior to this time? Appellants, in a play for sympathy, have emphasized that they own a small restaurant on West 3rd South where he works one shift as a cook and Mrs. Tahtaras works part time as a waitress. They omitted any reference to the fact that appellants owned "certain real estate rentals," (R. 164) and that they had bought two different homes in very desirable neighborhoods during the course of the matters testified to, one on upper Sheridan Road and one at 2559 East 13th So. In addition they had purchased the view lot in Indian Hills upon which the new dwelling was to be erected.

These were not people unfamiliar with property and money. At no time did they tender a financial statement of their assets and income to support the intimation that they could not afford the house they asked Mr. Parrish to design for them.

Now let us look at the bids that were received, in light of this background and the fact that Mr. Tahtaras was then involved in litigation in the District Court in two lawsuits over commissions and contracts on the sales of some of his real estate holdings. (R. 70 and 294) Mr. Tahtaras reiterated that he was having some credit difficulties.

The first bids received on the original design with all of the details were:

Earl Belknap	\$62,589.00
Stewart L. Carlson	80,562.00
Hamer Culp, Jr.	82,500.00
Alan E. Fors	92,500.00

Then Mr. Parrish revised the drawings and specifications after consultation with appellants, reducing the square footage from 4500 feet to 3800 feet. The bids on this reduced house ran, \$73,280.00 and \$75,987.00. These were undoubtedly too high because of the legal involvements and credit problems of appellants. A contractor cannot be blamed for bidding excessively high when he is to do business with a man who was already in court on two alleged breaches of contract.

The only proper rule in such a case seems to be to ascertain what would be the reasonable cost of constructing such a dwelling. Mr. Parrish testified, without contradiction, that from his years of experience, and from records of construction of a similar house at the same time, the reasonable cost of construction of such a home as he had designed would be between \$12.00 to \$14.00 per square foot. Let us multiply the 3800 square feet on the revised plan by \$14.00 per square foot. We get \$53,200.00, a figures well within the limit of \$65,000.00 which the court found had been imposed by the appellants. Apparently the two contractors bidding the revised plans had added \$20,000.00 "scare" money as a hedge against possible litigation with Mr. Tahtaras should they have to sue him for breach of contract.

Notwithstanding these difficulties, Mr. Parrish was ready and willing to cut down to meet appellants' price. (R. 257) However, Mr. Tahtaras had called Mr. Belnap, the original low bidder who had withdrawn his bid, and asked him to bid on the revised plans. Still he could not get bids as low as he wanted them. When he met with Mr. Parrish and discussed the last bids, Mr. Taharas said, "Now you will have to forget it." (R. 287)

The equities of this matter certainly predominate in favor of Mr. Parrish and against the appellants. It is about like the situation which might

exist if a client requested his lawyer to prepare, revise and amend an extensive trust agreement to assist him in the disposition of his properties. Then because one of his sons has offended him, the client refuses to execute the trust and then refuses to pay his lawyer.

Here too, because of the “wild” bidding of the contractors evidently because of their knowledge of the two pending law suits with appellants on alleged breach of contract, appellants will not build their house and will not pay for the professional services rendered. It would appear that the proposed contractors were more prudent than Mr. Parrish in recognizing appellants’ apparent penchant for breaching contracts and involving in litigation.

POINT III

THE COURT’S FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT ARE FULLY SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

POINT IV

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF FOR THE VALUE OF THE ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES RENDERED.

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